

Options for harmonising soil data obtained from different sources

Niels H. Batjes

February 2023

© 2023, ISRIC – World Soil Information, Wageningen, Netherlands

All rights reserved. Reproduction and dissemination are permitted without any prior written approval, provided however that the source is fully acknowledged. ISRIC requests that a copy, or a bibliographical reference thereto, of any document, product, report or publication, incorporating any information obtained from the current publication is forwarded to:

Director, ISRIC - World Soil Information Droevendaalsesteeg 3 (building 101) 6708 PB Wageningen The Netherlands E-mail: <u>soils@isric.org</u>

The designations employed and the presentation of material in this information product do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of ISRIC concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of is authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries.

Despite the fact that this publication is created with utmost care, the author(s) and/or publisher(s) and/or ISRIC cannot be held liable for any damage caused by the use of this publication or any content therein in whatever form, whether or not caused by possible errors or faults nor for any consequences thereof.

This report was prepared at ISRIC in conjunction with the <u>EU HoliSoils</u> project with funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under grant agreement No. 101000289. This document contributes to 'Deliverable 3.3 - Report on guidelines for combining GHG monitoring data.'

Additional information on ISRIC can be accessed through http://www.isric.org.

Citation

Batjes, N.H., 2023. Options for harmonising soil data obtained from different sources. ISRIC – World Soil Information, Wageningen, 20 p. doi: 10.17027/isric-wdc-6ztd-eb19

Contents

Sum	imary	4
1.	Introduction	5
2.	Facing incongruent source data	5
3.	Possible approaches to harmonisation	6
3	.1 A priori harmonisation	6
3	.2 A posteriori harmonisation	7
	3.2.1 Applying pedotransfer functions	7
	3.3.2 Grouping soil data according to operational definitions	11
4.	Towards a tier-based approach	12
5.	Concluding remarks	13
6.	Acknowledgements	14
Арр	endix - Reference methods for chemical properties (ICPF)	15
Refe	erences	16

Tables

Table 1. Example of PTFs for harmonising pH values	obtained with different methods ^a
--	--

Figures

Figure 1. Differences in defining particle size distribution across Europe	Figure 1	Differences in defining particle size distrik	bution across Europe	. 11
--	----------	---	----------------------	------

Summary

This review was prepared in conjunction with the EU HoliSoils project (Grant agreement No. 101000289) and ISRIC's ongoing WoSIS (World Information Service) programme. It investigates posibilities for harmonisation of discongruent soil data obtained from a diverse range of data providers. Various approaches, expressed in terms of tier levels, towards full harmonisation are discussed. The actual choice for, or feasibility of, a given approach is largely detemined by the fact whether new soil monitoring programmes can be set up or whether only soil legacy data are available. These considerations determine the level of harmonisation of soil data achievable in the framework of the World Soil Information Service. WoSIS-derived data will underpin the digital soil mapping work of the HoliSoils project, with a focus on forest soils in Europe.

1. Introduction

Serious problems can arise with the comparison of soil analytical data derived from different sources. Many countries use specific analytical methods for their soil analyses, be it for agricultural soils or forest soils, and this generally according to the prevailing national standards (Higgins *et al.* 2021). In some instances different standards are used within countries, for example for 'states' (Höhle *et al.* 2016; Hoffmann *et al.* 2019). These 'original' data often meet specific goals and are not necessarily intended to contribute to international transboundary studies. Standardisation and harmonisation of such data for wider use may imply a loss of appropriateness for originally intended purposes (Batjes *et al.* 2017). However, once they are compiled under a common standard they importantly gain in appropriateness for use for cross border or international applications.

That being said, the quality and possible extent of the research and policy advice that can be based on such standardised data will strongly depend on the quality and comparability of the available (source) data (Van Egmond and Fantappiè 2021). Many projects and initiatives for Europe have underlined the difficulties that arise when comparing and sharing data from national soil monitoring systems (Bispo *et al.* 2021).

This report discusses the scope for harmonisation of soil data set, in the context of the EU-HoliSoils project and related mapping activities. As we are dealing with existing data, the possible approach to harmonisation will be largely driven by the actual availability and accessibility of datasets, in particular results from inter-laboratory comparisons throughout Europe. Another important factor in this respect is that 'soil monitoring for Europe is largely fragmented and under-resourced' (Morvan *et al.* 2008; Arrouays *et al.* 2012; Arrouays *et al.* 2021). Saby et al. (2008), for example, raised the important issue of whether 'European soil-monitoring networks [will] be able to detect changes in topsoil organic carbon content', which is an important consideration for the EU HoliSoils project.

2. Facing incongruent source data

Soil data for the HoliSoils mapping activities are derived from databases collated by the project itself (Wellbrock *et al.* 2021) as well as a large compilation of soil profile data managed in WoSIS (Batjes *et al.* 2020) complemented with recent acquisitions such as the LUCAS 2018 dataset (Fernandez-Ugalde *et al.* 2022).

For HoliSoils, all submitted datasets, pre-screened for completeness (e.g., lineage, license), are imported 'as is' in the ISRIC Data Repository keeping the original data model, naming and coding conventions, abbreviations, domains respectively units of measurement, and so on. Subsequently, these diverse 'source' datasets are converted into PostgreSQL format using a semi-automated ETL (extraction, transformation, load) procedure. During this process, the source data are 'mapped' to the WoSIS naming conventions, standard values and/or units of measurement (Ribeiro *et al.* 2020). This corresponds with the first major step of standardisation: make the originally incongruent data queryable and usable. The second step of standardisation involves importing the standardised data into

the WoSIS data model itself; this process includes automated checks on the plausibility of the reported values (e.g., $pH H_2O$ should between 1 and 13).

A desired third step, as a follow up to the standardisation, full data harmonisation would involve making similar soil chemical and physical data comparable, that is as 'if assessed by a commonly endorsed single reference method' (for pH, CEC, organic carbon, etc.). Worldwide, these reference (or target) methods still have to be agreed upon by the international soil science community, for example in the framework of the Global Soil Partnership (Baritz *et al.* 2014). Presently, GLOSOLAN (2020) is deveploping new Standard Operation Procedures (SOP) for wider application, yet these need not align with ISO/TC 190 (2016) standards.

Alternatively for Europe-wide soil monitoring, with a focus on agricultural soils, the list of analytical methods as implemented for LUCAS (Orgiazzi *et al.* 2018) are recommended (Bispo *et al.* 2021). Alternatively, EU-HoliSoils adopted the list of standard analytical methods described in ICP Forests (2021a). Both LUCAS and ICP Forests follow the same ISO standards for soil analyses, albeit with minor modifications. However, procedures for field sampling can vary substantially for example when sampling organic topsoils.

During the initial phase of the HoliSoils project and 2nd General Assembly (Helsinki, June 2022), the following soil properties were identified as being necessary for the subsequent mapping work, hence harmonisation (with consideration of organic versus mineral soil layers): bulk density, Carbon (Total and Organic), Calcium carbonate, Cation exchange capacity, Total Nitrogen, pH (H₂O), Texture (sand, silt, clay), and possibly water retention (at specified tensions). The general principles and procedures outlined in Section 3 can be used for harmonising other soil properties as well.

3. Possible approaches to harmonisation

When starting a survey or monitoring programme from 'scratch' there is scope for *a priori* harmonisation of sampling design, field sampling, sample (pre-)treatment as well as the analytical analyses themselves. Conversely, when faced with existing laboratory data only *a posteriori* harmonisation may be considered. Many projects and initiatives for Europe have underlined the difficulties that arise when comparing and sharing data from national soil monitoring systems. This may be due to technical issues (e.g., sampling designs and protocols, analytical methods, data formats) and reasons for sharing (e.g., why share the data and for what purpose?) as well as legal requirements (Bispo *et al.* 2021).

3.1 A priori harmonisation

In recent ICP Forests (ICPF) monitoring rounds, all soil properties were sampled and analysed according to the standards described in ICP Forests (2021b). Apparently, however, during the initial rounds

individual countries still followed their own national standards, in a range of laboratories. These data were later harmonised to the ICPF reference methods (Cools *et al.* 2004); the actual procedures used for this, however, are not easily traced (De Vos *et al.* 2015).

The past two decades, harmonised forest soil monitoring is applied across Europe (Fleck *et al.* 2016); all laboratories have to use the same reference methods (see Appendix), which follow ISO standards (ICP Forests 2021b). Apparently, no single reference laboratory is used at present yet round-robin rounds for between (and within) laboratory data inter-comparability are in place. Such procedures are essential in order to ensure the quality of soil chemical data can be assessed (Cynthia van Leeuwen *et al.* 2022). Alternatively, monitoring programmes such as LUCAS use 'a common sampling procedure, *single* laboratory, and standard analytical methods' in all rounds (Fernandez-Ugalde *et al.* 2022).

Use of uniform procedures over space and time is critical to reduce error sources and avoid the need for *a posteriori* harmonisation as required in the case of incogruent (national) soil datasets (Crawford *et al.* 2018; Bispo *et al.* 2021).

3.2 A posteriori harmonisation

As indicated, for the HoliSoils mapping component, we are faced with forest soil data from a wide range of sources. Early work at ISRIC by Vogel (1994) on the conversion (or harmonisation) of results determined by different analytical methods indicated that this can be accomplished in two ways. First by adding or subtracting the average difference between methods, see for example Höhle (2016, p. 385), or by using regionally-calibrated and validated regression equations or pedotransfer functions (PTF). In principle, the PTF-approach is considered more accurate, but development of regionallyapplicable PTFs requires the availability of adequate 'comparative' input data sets for PTF-development (calibration) as well as their subsequent validation, and this for all soil properties under consideration (see Appendix).

3.2.1 Applying pedotransfer functions

Development of pedotransfer functions

The GlobalSoilMap (2015) consortium and others (e.g., Styc *et al.* 2021) indicated that the necessary pedotransfer functions are likely to be region and soil type specific. Probably, here again, the biggest challenge (besides the actual sharing of soil data) is the quality of the data used to build the regional transfer functions. Building a transfer function to describe the relationship between or among properties generally is not the main issue; when sufficient data are available it may be attractive to

develop machine learning models (Tóth *et al.* 2014; Khaledian *et al.* 2018; Laura Poggio *et al.* 2021; Schillaci *et al.* 2021).

In practice, proficiency testing initiatives have revealed unacceptably variable control charts (for definition see e.g., van Reeuwijk and Houba 1998; ICP Forests 2021b), suggesting varying methods for the same *named* analysis across laboratories and/or varying quality control measures. Therefore, until analytical methods and quality control are standardised (and enforced), errors of transfer functions built on variously sourced data of varying quality can be expected to be large. In principle, such issues can only be avoided when all soil data for a given region are collected and analysed using defined standard methods in a single reference laboratory as is the case with the EU-LUCAS topsoil programme (Orgiazzi *et al.* 2018; Fernandez-Ugalde *et al.* 2022), EU-Soils4Africa project (Paterson *et al.* 2020) and the US-NCSS soil database (USDA-NCSS 2018; Soil Survey Staff 2022).

Examples of PTFs for converting pH-results obtained using different methods are listed in Table 1 as example. Generally, such PTFs are not 'portable' or transferrable from one region to another (GlobalSoilMap 2015; Kabała *et al.* 2016; Santra *et al.* 2018; Sevastas *et al.* 2018; Hu *et al.* 2021; Styc *et al.* 2021). It should be noted that the original PTFs were often developed from single determinations lacking data on the precision of either method considered in the comparison (Crawford *et al.* 2018). Further, use of a PTF will introduce additional error (i.e., PTF-uncertainty) to the available (measured) data (Kotlar *et al.* 2019) and effects of such PTF-errors are not readily quantified (Van Looy *et al.* 2017; Cynthia van Leeuwen *et al.* 2022). Additional PTF-uncertainty is introduced when several PTFs are used in sequence to go from one source method X (e.g., pH_{H2O} 1:2.5) via a PTF to pH_{H2O} 1:5 first, and then use this value as input to a second PTF to arrive at the defined target method Y (e.g, pH_{CaCI2} , 1:2.5 0.01 M) as done by Styc et al. (2021) in an example based on the GlobalSoilMap methodology.

No. Target Method (Y)	Source Method (X)	Equation	R ² Reference
1 pH (1:1 0.01 m CaCl2)	pH (1:1 water)	y = 1.08(x) - 0.973	0.98 Miller and Kissel (2010)
2 pH (1:1 0.01 m CaCl2)	pH (saturated paste)	y = 1.10 (x) - 0.923	0.98 Miller and Kissel (2010)
3 pH (1:1 0.01 m CaCl2)	pH (1:2 water)	y = 1.05 (x) - 0.950	0.97 Miller and Kissel (2010)
4 pH (1:1 water)	pH (1:1 0.01 m CaCl2)	$y = x + 0.267 (EC 1:1 water)^{-0.445}$	0.99 Miller and Kissel (2010)
5 pH (1:2 water)	pH (1:1 0.01 m CaCl2)	$y = x + 0.239 (EC 1:1 water)^{-0.505}$	0.98 Miller and Kissel (2010)
6 pH (1:5 0.01 m CaCl2)	pH (1:5 water)	y = 1.012 (x) - 0.76	0.99 Conyers and Davey (1988)
7 pH (1:5 0.01 m CaCl2)	pH (1:5 water)	y = 0.979 (x) - 0.71	0.68 Bruce et al. (1989)
8 pH (1:5 0.01 m CaCl2)	pH (1:5 water)	y = 0.887 (x) - 0.199	0.88 Aitken and Moody (1991)
9 pH (1:5 0.01 m CaCl2)	pH (1:5 water)	y = 0.197 (x) ² - 1.21 (x) + 5.78	0.92 Aitken and Moody (1991)
10 pH (1:5 0.002 m CaCl2)	pH (1:5 water)	y = 0.948 (x) - 0.308	0.90 Aitken and Moody (1991)
11 pH (1:5 0.002 m CaCl2)	pH (1:5 water)	y = 0.178 (x) ² - 1.043 (x) + 5.10	0.94 Aitken and Moody (1991)
12 pH (1:5 1 m KCl)	pH (1:5 water)	y = 0.803 (x) + 0.077	0.81 Aitken and Moody (1991)
13 pH (1:5 1 m KCl)	pH (1:5 water)	y = 0.233 (x) ² - 1.797 (x) + 7.143	0.98 Aitken and Moody (1991)
14 pH (soil solution)	pH (1:5 water)	y = 1.28 (x) - 0.613	0.78 Aitken and Moody (1991)
15 pH (soil solution)	pH (1:5 0.01 m CaCl2)	y = 1.105 (x) - 0.140	0.79 Aitken and Moody (1991)
16 pH (soil solution)	pH (1:5 0.002 m CaCl2)	y = 1.050 (x) - 0.112	0.80 Aitken and Moody (1991)
17 pH (soil solution)	pH (1:5 1 m KCl)	y = 1.175 (x) - 0.262	0.80 Aitken and Moody (1991)

Table 1. Example of PTFs for harmonising pH values obtained with different methods^a

^a Credit: For references see 'Specifications Tiered¹ GlobalSoilMap products' (GlobalSoilMap 2015).

Measurement uncertainty

As indicated, errors in 'traditional' wet-chemistry measurements can be considerable; sampling and sample preparation errors are of the same order of magnitude as errors caused in the chemical analysis themselves (Wagner *et al.* 2001). Hence, sampling and sample preparation require the same attention and equivalent measures for quality assurance (QA) and quality control (QC) as the chemical analyses themselves. However, this aspect is not always taken into consideration (Fernández-Ugalde *et al.* 2020). Tirez (2014), for example, reported that monitoring uncertainties derived from an interlaboratory trial (including sampling) amounted to \pm 20% (95% confidence interval (CI)) for soil organic carbon and \pm 0.3 pH units (95% CI) for soil acidity.

The above errors will carry over into calibrations and reduce the accuracy of spectrometric estimates (Viscarra Rossel and Bouma 2016; Poppiel *et al.* 2022; Viscarra Rossel *et al.* 2022). Performance of harmonisation functions further depends on parameters (soil properties) and sampling protocols (Louis *et al.* 2014; Shamrikova *et al.* 2022). With respect to MIR-DRS (Mid infrared, diffuse reflectance spectroscopy), Minasny (2009) indicated "local calibration is preferred to avoid the measurement biases between laboratories, and the calibrated functions are more specific to the soil types in an area". Yet, there is a trade-off with sample size (i.e., local calibration is based on fewer data). Similarly, regression methods for bulk density are economical as they can make indirect 'measurements' (rather predictions), but again these depend on sufficient good quality data of soil texture and organic matter content as well as environmental properties. Also, like most of the other approaches, PTF-accuracy tends to decrease with sampling depth (Al-Shammary *et al.* 2018). Likely, this is due to the fact that generally fewer samples are taken at greater depth and the effect of environmental variables tends to be less at greater depth.

ICP Forests level-2 inventories provide information that permits to track the applied methods, the instrument detection limits, method detection limits, and the ring-test proficiency of the laboratories that produced the analytical data (ICP Forests 2021b, chapter 3). According to Fleck (2016), a limitation of the level-2 dataset is that analyses were carried out by different national laboratories in Europe instead of one central laboratory. Similarly, for ICP Forests level-1, for 'analyses in the laboratory, all laboratories have to use the reference methods, which mainly follow ISO standards' (ICP Forests 2021b), but no reference is made to a central, certified laboratory to ensure consistency.

Lack of standardised procedures

Different monitoring systems, such as LUCAS and ICP Forests, use different approaches for sampling soils with respect to the consideration of a possible surficial organic layer. Further, use of different instruments and techniques for soil sampling (e.g., a spade versus gouge auger, or litter removal) will affect results to a varying extent (Fernández-Ugalde *et al.* 2020). This may lead to difficulties when comparing results from different (national) monitoring programmes (see Bispo *et al.* 2021).

The LUCAS 2022 sampling round will include a double sampling exercise to develop transfer functions between national and LUCAS-EU methods (with focus on agricultural land) (Bispo *et al.* 2021). Similarly,

Ross (2015) indicated long-term forest soil monitoring and research often require a comparison of laboratory data generated at different times and in different laboratories. Quantifying the uncertainty associated with these analyses is necessary to assess temporal changes in soil properties, with consideration for differences between soil types (Ross *et al.* 2015). It should be noted here that temporal change can only be detected if it is larger than the uncertainty caused by measurement error (Crawford *et al.* 2018). Such efforts should be coupled with ongoing activities to review and standardise laboratory methods by the 'Global Soil Laboratory Network' (GLOSOLAN 2020), the 'Wageningen Evaluating Programmes for Analytical Laboratories' (WEPAL 2022), EURACHEM (2015), ISO and similar.

Figure 1 (Nemes et al. 1999) shows that limits for defining particle size distribution vary widely throughout Europe. Conversion of soil textural data based on '< 1 mm' and '< 2 mm' schemas for defining the 'fine earth' fraction are problematic (Stolbovoi 2001, p. 15). Importantly, Yudina et al. (2018) suggest the upper boundary of the clay fraction as used in the Russian Federation and former satellite countries classification (i.e. Katschinski 1956) should be shifted from 1 to 2 mm. Further, data transformation between different national soil texture schemes (within a given 'fine earth fraction', e.g. '< 2 mm') is particularly cumbersome and generally requires accesss to comparative assessments that consider at least 5 or 6 different particle size limits (Rousseva 1997; Makó et al. 2017; Moeys 2018; Sadovski and Ivanova 2020; Takahashi et al. 2020; Van Egmond et al. 2021), while commonly only three size classes are defined or presented in most datasets (as submitted for consideration in WoSIS). Nemes et al (1999) indicated that 'once an extensive external reference data set with well-quantified particlesize distributions is available, the similarity procedure becomes a very powerful tool for interpolations.' Alternatively, GlobalSoilMap (2015) developed a prototype library of R functions that allows conversion from systems of particle size classification different from the USDA to the standard particle size classes of the USDA system (clay \leq 2 μ m, silt = 2-50 μ m and sand = 50-2000 μ m, determined by the pipette method). Similar procedures would be needed for conversion to the class limits used by LUCAS and ICPF (i.e., clay $\leq 2 \mu m$, silt = 2-63 μm and sand = 63-2000 μm).

Belgium	2		1 0 2 0	5 0	100 200	\$00 ît	00 2000
Denmark	2		20	63	125 200	500	2000
France	2			50			2000
Cermany	2	(6.3)	20	63	(125) 200	500	2000
Greece	2	Ê	20	60	200	600	2000
Italy	2			50			2000
The Netherlands	2		16	50	105 150 210 3	00	2000
Portugal	2		20		200		2000
Slovak Republic	î		1 0	50	250		2000
Spain	2		20				2000
Sweden	2	6	20	60	200	600	2000
England & Wales	2		20	60	100 200	600	2000
Northern Ireland	2			60			2000
Scotland	2			60			2000

Figure 1. Differences in defining particle size distribution across Europe

Additional, generally unaccounted for uncertainties arise when differences in analytical or physical methods for the determination of particle size factions themselves are also considered, such as use of pipette, hydrometer or laser diffraction (Buurman and Van Doesburg 2007; Faé *et al.* 2019) as well as effects of different disperging agents (Matar *et al.* 1980; Coates and Hulse 1985; Makó *et al.* 2017; Mwendwa 2022).

3.3.2 Grouping soil data according to operational definitions

When confronted with soil analytical data derived from a wide range of laboratories that use different national standards, and considering the observations made in Section 3.3.1, a practical solution towards harmonisation is to cluster the shared soil data according to key elements of the chemical procedures under consideration according to operational definitions (or functional properties, Soil Survey Staff 2022). In other words, analytical data obtained from different laboratories are grouped according to key criteria of the procedures themselves. This approach is illustrated in Table 2 using pH-KCl as an example. Of necessity, such an approach assumes interlaboratory differences for a given functional group are neglible, which is a simplification. Nonetheless, this approach is followed in SoilGrids mapping (L. Poggio *et al.* 2021) and similar broad scale approaches have been used in the framework of the HWSD (FAO *et al.* 2012) and an update thereof (WISE30sec, Batjes 2016). As indicated earlier, the desired final step of full harmonisation to an agreed reference method (Y) would require access to a wide range of comparative data sets that would permit development of PTFs between different 'functional groups' as discussed by Batjes (2020). Similarly, GLOSOLAN (Suvannang et al., 2018, p. 10)

wrote that "comparable and useful soil information (at the global level) will only be attainable once laboratories agree to follow common standards and norms". Further, "to allow comparison between data produced using different methods (for those laboratories unable to implement GLOSOLAN's SOPs), GLOSOLAN will develop conversion factors between the national methods and GLOSOLAN SOP's" (GLOSOLAN/FAO 2022). A similar excersise, with ISO SOP's as reference methods, is being undertaken in the framework of the 'LUCAS 2022' sampling programme. In all situations, it will be necessary to participate in international round-robin rounds (e.g., EURACHEM 2015; WEPAL 2022), and to consider comparisons between results obtained with ISO SOP's and GLOSOLAN SOP's on a representative set of reference samples.

Кеу	ISO ^a	ISRIC ^b	USDA ^c	WEPAL ^d	GLOSOLAN ^e
Pretreatment	< 2 mm	< 2 mm	< 2 mm	< 2 mm	< 2 mm
Solution	KCl	KCl	KCI	KCI	KCI
Concentration	1 M	1 M	1 M	1 M	1 M
Ratio	1:5	1:2.5	1:1	1:5	1:5
Ratio base	v/v	w/v	w/v	v/v	w/v
Instrument	Electrode	Electrode	Electrode	Electrode	Electrode
	>				

Table 2. Characterising soil analytical methods for pH-KCl according to key criteria

Source: Ribeiro (2020)

Footnotes: A) ISO 10390:2021 specifies an instrumental method for the routine determination of pH using a glass electrode in a 1:5 (volume fraction) suspension of soil in water (pH in H₂O), in 1 mol/l potassium chloride solution (pH in KCl) or in 0.01 mol/l calcium chloride solution (pH in CaCl₂) (ISO-10390 2021); this coding example is for pH KCl. B) ISRIC: Method 4-1 for pH-KCl (van Reeuwijk 2002), C) USDA: Method 4C1a2a3 (Soil Survey Staff 2022), D) WEPAL Wageningen Evaluating Programs for Analytical Laboratories – www.wepal.nl – WEPAL is an accredited world-leading organiser of proficiency testing programmes in the fields of plants, soil, sediments and organic waste. Participants in the International Soil-Analytical Exchange programme receive four times a year, four samples to be analysed for comparison of results. Participants describe the applied extraction/ digestion, and the method of detection of the particular element of their method applied, E) GLOSOLAN/FAO (2021): The pH of the soil measured in either water, CaCl₂, or KCl systems.

4. Towards a tier-based approach

Harmonisation of soil data determined using different sampling and analytical procedures is feasible, yet fraught with uncertainty. Strictly speaking, there should be no major technical difficulties to full data harmonisation when a new monitoring system is established. In practice, however, when faced with existing soil data the possible level of harmonisation (tier-level) will be determined largely by data availability and license constraints.

Basically, based on Section 3.3, there are four pathways towards full data harmonisation. In similarity to IPCC (2019), different levels of methodological complexity are proposed. Tier 1 would be the basic method (i.e., mainly crucial standardisation), while the Tier 4 approach would be the most demanding in terms of complexity and data requirements, as well as cost of implementation.

• Tier 1: Group analytical data sourced from different laboratories according to key criteria of the procedures themselves, that is according to their 'functional properties' or operational

definitions. Users must then determine which subdivisions within a given functional group (e.g., silt size fraction or pH_{KCI}) they consider to be comparable for their envisaged applications.

- Tier 2: Convert national data to the selected reference methods (*in casu* ICPF), based on a set of representative 'reference' soil samples analysed according to reference method (Y) and the national standards (X), using locally calibrated/validated conversion functions (with accounting of uncertainty).
- Tier 3: Collect all samples in a country using the accepted reference methods (*in casu* ICPF) and subsequently analyse the soil samples in national certified laboratories (using the adopted reference methods) with overall quality assurance/control enforced at a 'main' central laboratory, with 'round-robin' rounds.
- Tier 4: Collect all samples using an accepted reference method (e.g., LUCAS or ICPF) and subsequently prepare and analyse all soil samples in *one* specific, certified reference laboratory (with consideration of an adequate number of replicates and participation in international 'round-robin' rounds).

5. Concluding remarks

For consistent trans-national monitoring programmes a tier-4 approach would be preferred for highest accuracy, followed by a tier-3 approach. Inherently, adoption of such approaches would require long-term resources from funding agencies or international organisations. Countries with long-standing soil survey or monitoring programmes, however, may be reluctant to adopt such an approach (see Bispo *et al.* 2021; Soil Survey Staff 2022).

In practice, such as for the HoliSoils mapping component, disparate soil data will often have to be used. However, results of comparative (i.e., intra- and inter-laboratory) analyses are seldom available or shared thereby limiting the scope for PTF-development and full harmonisation. So in essence, when multiple source data need to be combined (e.g., ICPF, RQMS, LUCAS, and different national datasets) a tier 1 approach towards harmonisation may be the most realistic (and only feasible) option, particularly for broad scale assessments, pending the implementation of tier 3 or tier 4 types of trans-boundary monitoring programmes.

6. Acknowledgements

This review was prepared in conjunction with the HoliSoils project, with funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme (grant agreement No. 101000289), and framework of ISRIC WDC-Soils long-term WoSIS (<u>World Soil Information Service</u>) programme.

I thank Gerard Heuveling for his editorial comments.

Appendix - Reference methods for chemical properties (ICPF)

Parameter		Reference Analysis Method ¹						Unit ²
		ISO	Extractant	Measurement method(s) ³		od(s) ³		
pH(CaCl ₂)		ISO 10390 (2005)	0.01 M CaCl2	pH-elect	pH-electrode			
рН(Н2О)			H2O	pH-elect	pH-electrode			
Total nitrogen		ISO 13878 (1998)	-	Dry Com	Dry Combustion		g/kg	
Total nitrogen		ISO 11261 (1995)	-	Modifie	Modified Kjeldahl			
Total organic carbon ⁴		ISO 10694 (1995)	-	Dry Com	Dry Combustion at 900 °C		℃ 00	
Carbonates		ISO 10693 (1994)	HCI	Calcimeter				
Ρ					Colorimetry		mg/kg	
K, Ca, Mg, Mn		ISO 11466 (1995)	Aqua Regia by reflux digestion	ICP	ļ	AAS		
Heavy metals: Cu, Cd, Pb, Zn								
Other: Al, Fe, Cr, Ni, Na								
Hg				ICP	(Cold va	ipour AAS	
c				ICP	ICP			
S			CNS - analyser	•				
Free Acidity (or sum of AC^5) and free H^+		ISO 11254 (1994) modified	0.1 M BaCl2 ¹		titration to pH 7.8 or 'German' method		cmol(+) /kg	
Al, Fe, Mn ISO 1126		ISO 11260 (1994) modified	0.1 M	ICP	AAS	- AAS		
	K, Ca, Mg, Na		BaCl2				FES	
Reactive Fe and Al Oxalate extractable P		ISRIC (2002)	Acid ammonium oxalate	AAS	ICP			mg/kg
Total Elements: Ca, Mg, Na, K, Al, Fe, Mn		ISO 14869-1 (2001)	HF or LiBO2	AAS	ICP		mg/kg	

Source: ICP Forests (2021b), soil textural classes, pipette method, are defined as: clay $\leq 2 \mu m$, silt = 2-63 μm and sand = 63-2000 μm . These are referred to as reference method Y in the text.

¹ Note: The ICPF reference method deviates from ISO 11260 & ISO 14254 in the sense that one single barium chloride extraction must be used instead of three extractions (<u>http://icp-forests.net/page/icp-forests-manual</u>).

References

- Al-Shammary AAG, Kouzani AZ, Kaynak A, Khoo SY, Norton M and Gates W 2018. Soil Bulk Density Estimation Methods: A Review. *PEDOSPHERE* 28, 581-596.
- Arrouays D, Mulder VL and Richer-de-Forges AC 2021. Soil mapping, digital soil mapping and soil monitoring over large areas and the dimensions of soil security A review. *Soil Security* 5, 100018.

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2667006221000150

Arrouays D, Marchant BP, Saby NPA, Meersmans J, Orton TG, Martin MP, Bellamy PH, Lark RM and Kibblewhite M 2012. Generic Issues on Broad-Scale Soil Monitoring Schemes: A Review. *Pedosphere* 22, 456-469. <u>http://www.scopus.com/inward/record.url?eid=2-s2.0-</u>

84862743066&partnerID=40&md5=01e88155d74c8b0309a5206eff4ca5b5

- Baritz R, Erdogan H, Fujii K, Takata Y, Nocita M, Bussian B, Batjes NH, Hempel J, Wilson P and Vargas R 2014. *Harmonization of methods, measurements and indicators for the sustainable management and protection of soil resources (Providing mechanisms for the collation, analysis and exchange of consistent and comparable global soil data and information),* Global Soil Partnership, FAO, 44 p. <u>http://www.fao.org/3/a-az922e.pdf</u>
- Batjes NH 2016. Harmonised soil property values for broad-scale modelling (WISE30sec) with estimates of global soil carbon stocks. *Geoderma* 269, 61-68. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2016.01.034</u>
- Batjes NH, Ribeiro E and van Oostrum A 2020. Standardised soil profile data to support global mapping and modelling (WoSIS snapshot 2019). *Earth Syst. Sci. Data* 12, 299-320. <u>https://doi.org/10.5194/essd-12-299-2020</u>
- Batjes NH, Ribeiro E, van Oostrum A, Leenaars J, Hengl T and de Jesus JM 2017. WoSIS: providing standardised soil profile data for the world. *EARTH SYSTEM SCIENCE DATA* 9, 1-14.
- Bispo A, Arrouays D, Saby N, Boulonne L and Fantappiè M 2021. Proposal of methodological development for the LUCAS programme in accordance with national monitoring programmes. Towards climate-smart sustainable management of agricultural soils (EU H2020-SFS-2018-2020 / H2020-SFS-2019) EJP Soil, 135 p.

https://ejpsoil.eu/fileadmin/projects/ejpsoil/WP6/EJP SOIL Deliverable 6.3 Dec 2021 final.pdf

- Buurman P and Van Doesburg JDJ 2007. Laser-diffraction grain-size analyses of reference profiles. In: Arnalds O et al. (editors), *Soils of Volcanic Regions in Europe*. Springer-Verlag, Heidelberg, pp 451-468.
- Coates GF and Hulse CA 1985. A comparison of four methods of size analysis of fine-grained sediments. *New Zealand Journal of Geology and Geophysics* 28:2, , 369-380. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00288306.1985.10422234</u> Published online: 28 May 2012.
- Cools N, Delanote V, Scheldeman X, Quataert P, De Vos B and Roskams P 2004. Quality assurance and quality control in forest soil analyses: a comparison between European soil laboratories. *Accreditation and Quality Assurance* 9, 688-694. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00769-004-0856-4
- Crawford DM, Norng S, Kitching M and Robinson N 2018. Accounting for measurement errors when harmonising incongruent soil data a case study. *Soil Research* 56, 793-800. <u>https://www.publish.csiro.au/paper/SR17307</u>
- De Vos B, Cools N, Ilvesniemi H, Vesterdal L, Vanguelova E and Carnicelli S 2015. Benchmark values for forest soil carbon stocks in Europe: Results from a large scale forest soil survey. *Geoderma* 251–252, 33-46. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0016706115000798
- EURACHEM 2015. A network of organisations in Europe having the objective of establishing a system for the international traceability of chemical measurements and the promotion of good quality practices. <u>https://www.eurachem.org/</u>
- Faé GS, Montes F, Bazilevskaya E, Añó RM and Kemanian AR 2019. Making Soil Particle Size Analysis by Laser Diffraction Compatible with Standard Soil Texture Determination Methods. *Soil Science Society of America Journal* 83, 1244-1252. <u>https://doi.org/10.2136/sssaj2018.10.0385</u>
- FAO, IIASA, ISRIC, ISSCAS and JRC 2012. Harmonized World Soil Database (version 1.2), Prepared by Nachtergaele FO, van Velthuizen H, Verelst L, Wiberg D, Batjes NH, Dijkshoorn JA, van Engelen VWP, Fischer G, Jones A, Montanarella L., Petri M, Prieler S, Teixeira E and Xuezheng Shi. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis (IIASA), ISRIC World Soil Information, Institute of Soil Science Chinese Academy of Sciences (ISSCAS), Joint Research Centre of the European Commission (JRC), Laxenburg, Austria.
 http://webarchive.iiasa.ac.at/Research/LUC/External-World-soil-database/HWSD_Documentation.pdf
- Fernandez-Ugalde O, Scarpa S, Orgiazzi A, Panagos P, Van Liedekerke M, A. M and Jones A 2022. LUCAS 2018 Soil Module. Presentation of dataset and results, Publications Office of the European Union. Luxembourg, 128 p. <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.2760/215013</u>Fernández-Ugalde O, Jones A and Meuli RG 2020. Comparison of sampling with a spade and gouge auger for topsoil monitoring at the continental scale. European Journal of Soil Science 71, 137-150. <u>https://bsssjournals.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/ejss.12862</u>
- Fleck S, Cools N, De Vos B, Meesenburg H and Fischer R 2016. The Level II aggregated forest soil condition database links soil physicochemical and hydraulic properties with long-term observations of forest condition in Europe. Annals of Forest Science 73, 945-957. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13595-016-0571-4</u>

GlobalSoilMap 2015. Specifications Tiered GlobalSoilMap products (Release 2.4), 52 p. https://www.isric.org/documents/document-type/globalsoilmap-specifications-v24-07122015

GLOSOLAN 2020. *GLOSOLAN's Best practice manual: Standard operating procedures (SOPs)*. <u>http://www.fao.org/global-soil-partnership/glosolan/soil-analysis/standard-operating-procedures/en/#c763834</u>

- GLOSOLAN/FAO 2021. *Standard operating procedure for soil pH determination*, GLOSOLAN / FAO, Rome, 23 p. <u>https://www.fao.org/3/cb3637en/cb3637en.pdf</u>
- GLOSOLAN/FAO 2022. Standard operating procedures (SOPs), GLOSOLAN / FAO. <u>https://www.fao.org/global-soil-partnership/glosolan-old/soil-analysis/standard-operating-procedures/en/</u>
- Higgins S, Kadziuliene Z, Paz A, Mason E, Vervuurt W, Astover A, Borchard N, Jacobs A, Laszio P, Wall D, Trinchera GA, Budai A, Mano R, Thorma S, Rok JM, Sanchez B, Hirte J and Madenogiu S 2021. *Stocktake study and recommendations for harmonizing methodologies for fertilization guidelines*, EJP Soil (European Joint Programme), 30 p.
 https://ejpsoil.eu/fileadmin/projects/ejpsoil/WP2/Deliverable 2.13 Stocktake study and recommendations for harmonizing methodologies for fertilization guidelines.
- Hoffmann C, Schulz S, Eberhardt E, Grosse M, Stein S, Specka X, Svoboda N and Heinrich U 2019. *Data Standards for Soil- and Agricultural Research*, BonaRes Data Centre, Halle (Germany), 99 p. <u>https://doi.org/10.20387/BonaRes-ARM4-66M2</u>
- Höhle J, Bielefeldt J, Hilbrig L, Wellbrock N, Eickenscheidt N, Kompa T, Grüneberg E, Hilbrig L and Wellbrock N 2016. Bodenzustandserhebung im Wald. Dokumentation und Harmonisierung der Methoden, Johann Heinrich von Thünen-Institut, 540 p.

https://blumwald.thuenen.de/fileadmin/blumwald/BZE/Thuenen workingpaper 97 Dokumentation und Harmonisieru ng der Methoden.pdf

Hu B, Bourennane H, Arrouays D, Denoroy P, Lemercier B and Saby NPA 2021. Developing pedotransfer functions to harmonize extractable soil phosphorus content measured with different methods: A case study across the mainland of France. *Geoderma* 381, 114645. <u>http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0016706119324437</u>

ICP Forests 2021a. ICP Forests monitoring Manual <u>http://icp-forests.net/page/icp-forests-manual</u>

- ICP Forests 2021b. ICP Forests monitoring Manual. Part X: Sampling and analysis of soil. https://storage.ning.com/topology/rest/1.0/file/get/9995584862?profile=original
- IPCC 2019. 2019 refinement to the 2006 ipcc guidelines for national greenhouse gas inventories: Overview, IPCC, 15 p. https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/uploads/2019/12/19R V0 01 Overview.pdf
- ISO-10390 2021. *ISO 10390:2021: Soil, treated biowaste and sludge Determination of pH*, ISO, 8 p. <u>https://www.iso.org/standard/75243.html</u>
- ISO/TC 190 2016. ISO/TC 190 Soil quality (standards catalogue), International Organization for Standardization. http://www.iso.org/iso/iso_catalogue/catalogue_tc/catalogue_tc browse.htm?commid=54328
- Kabała C, Musztyfaga E, Gałka B, Łabuńska D and Mańczyńska P 2016. Conversion of Soil pH 1:2.5 KCl and 1:2.5 H2O to 1:5 H2O: Conclusions for Soil Management, Environmental Monitoring, and International Soil Databases. *Polish Journal of Environmental Studies* 25, 647-653. <u>https://doi.org/10.15244/pjoes/61549</u>
- Katschinski NA 1956. Die mechanische Bodenanalyse und die Klassifikation der Böden nach ihrer mechanischen Zusammensetzung, *Rapports au Sixiéme Congrés International de la Science du Sol*. International Society of Soil Science, Paris (FR), pp 321-327.

```
http://iuss.boku.ac.at/files/vi e congres international de la science du sol volume b paris 1956 compressed.pdf
#page=323
```

- Khaledian Y, Quinton JN, Brevik EC, Pereira P and Zeraatpisheh M 2018. Developing global pedotransfer functions to estimate available soil phosphorus. *Science of The Total Environment* 644, 1110-1116. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.06.394</u>
- Kotlar AM, de Jong van Lier Q, Barros AHC, Iversen BV and Vereecken H 2019. Development and Uncertainty Assessment of Pedotransfer Functions for Predicting Water Contents at Specific Pressure Heads. *Vadose Zone Journal* 18 <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2136/vzj2019.06.0063</u>
- Louis BP, Saby NPA, Orton TG, Lacarce E, Boulonne L, Jolivet C, Ratié C and Arrouays D 2014. Statistical sampling design impact on predictive quality of harmonization functions between soil monitoring networks. *Geoderma* 213, 133-143. <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0016706113002541</u>
- Makó A, Hernádi H, Barna G, Balázs R, Molnár S, Labancz V, Tóth B and Bakacsi Z 2017. Particle size distribution analysis using the pipette method: Comparison and conversion of Hungarian and international standards. *Agrokemia es Talajtan* 66, 295-315. <u>https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-</u>
- 85037697327&doi=10.1556%2f0088.2017.66.2.1&partnerID=40&md5=2b445650ffeafe8c65c47fb545b851b7 Matar A, Harmsen K and Garabed S 1980. Determination of particle size distribution in soils: Comparison of results obtaind by
- the hydrometer vs pipette method, ICARDA, Allepo, 22 p. chromeextension://efaidnbmnnnibpcajpcglclefindmkaj/viewer.html?pdfurl=https%3A%2F%2Fedepot.wur.nl%2F493916
- Minasny B, Tranter G, McBratney AB, Brough DM and Murphy BW 2009. Regional transferability of mid-infrared diffuse reflectance spectroscopic prediction for soil chemical properties. *Geoderma* 153, 155-162.
- http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/B6V67-4X3MRC6-4/2/d775a864bc3027d671187ddf63ea0a0d
- Moeys J 2018. *The soil texture wizard: R functions for plotting, classifying, transforming and exploring soil texture data*, 104 p. <u>https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/soiltexture/vignettes/soiltexture_vignette.pdf</u>
- Morvan X, Saby NPA, Arrouays D, Le Bas C, Jones RJA, Verheijen FGA, Bellamy PH, Stephens M and Kibblewhite MG 2008. Soil monitoring in Europe: A review of existing systems and requirements for harmonisation. *Science of The Total Environment* 391, 1-12. <u>http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/B6V78-4RB5BFB-</u> <u>2/2/de57c19b2bbdf166654f633b75b62efa</u>
- Mwendwa S 2022. Revisiting soil texture analysis: Practices towards a more accurate Bouyoucos method. *Heliyon* 8, e09395. <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2405844022006831</u>

- Nemes A, Wösten JHM, Lilly A and Oude Voshaar JH 1999. Evaluation of different procedures to interpolate particle-size distributions to achieve compatibility within soil databases. *Geoderma* 90, 187-202. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0016706199000142
- Orgiazzi A, Ballabio C, Panagos P, Jones A and Fernandez-Ugalde O 2018. LUCAS Soil, the largest expandable soil dataset for Europe: a review. EUROPEAN JOURNAL OF SOIL SCIENCE 69, 140-153.
- Paterson G, Csakine-Micheli E, van Egmond F, Shepherd K, Jones A, Leenaars J, da Graca Silva VF and Csorba A 2020. *D3.4 Guidance for the laboratory analysis* Soil4Africa project (H2020-SFS-2019-2), 288 p. <u>https://www.soils4africa-h2020.eu/serverspecific/soils4africa/images/Documents/GuidanceonLaboratoryAnalysis.pdf</u>
- Poggio L, de Sousa L, Batjes NH, Heuvelink GBM, Kempen B, Riberio E and Rossiter D 2021. SoilGrids 2.0: producing soil information for the globe with quantified spatial uncertainty. *SOIL* <u>https://doi.org/10.5194/soil-7-217-2021</u>
- Poggio L, de Sousa LM, Batjes NH, Heuvelink GBM, Kempen B, Ribeiro E and Rossiter D 2021. SoilGrids 2.0: producing soil information for the globe with quantified spatial uncertainty. *SOIL* 7, 217-240.
- Poppiel RR, Paiva AFdS and Demattê JAM 2022. Bridging the gap between soil spectroscopy and traditional laboratory: Insights for routine implementation. *Geoderma* 425, 116029.

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0016706122003366

- Ribeiro E, Batjes NH and Van Oostrum AJM 2020. *World Soil Information Service (WoSIS) Towards the standardization and harmonization of world soil data. Procedures Manual 2020.* ISRIC Report 2020/01, ISRIC World Soil Information, Wageningen, 153 p. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.17027/isric-wdc-2020-01</u>
- Ross DS, Bailey SW, Briggs RD, Curry J, Fernandez IJ, Fredriksen G, Goodale CL, Hazlett PW, Heine PR, Johnson CE, Larson JT, Lawrence GB, Kolka RK, Ouimet R, Paré D, Richter Dd, Schirmer CD and Warby RA 2015. Inter-laboratory variation in the chemical analysis of acidic forest soil reference samples from eastern North America. *Ecosphere* 6, art73. http://dx.doi.org/10.1890/ES14-00209.1
- Rousseva SS 1997. Data transformations between soil texture schemes. *European Journal of Soil Science* 48, 749-758. http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1365-2389.1997.tb00574.x/abstract
- Saby NPA, Bellamy PH, Morvan X, Arrouays D, Jones RJA, Verheijen FGA, Kibblewhite MG, Verdoodt A, ÜVeges JB, Freudenschuß A and Simota C 2008. Will European soil-monitoring networks be able to detect changes in topsoil organic carbon content? *Global Change Biology* 14, 2432-2442. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2008.01658.x</u>
- Sadovski A and Ivanova M 2020. Transformation of soil texture schemes and determination of water-physical properties of soils. *Eurasian Journal of Soil Science* 9, 306-313. <u>https://doi.org/10.18393/ejss.760201</u>
- Santra P, Kumar M, Kumawat RN, Painuli DK, Hati KM, Heuvelink GBM and Batjes NH 2018. Pedotransfer functions to estimate soil water content at field capacity and permanent wilting point in hot Arid Western India. *Journal of Earth System Science* 127, 35. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12040-018-0937-0</u>
- Schillaci C, Perego A, Valkama E, Märker M, Saia S, Veronesi F, Lipani A, Lombardo L, Tadiello T, Gamper HA, Tedone L, Moss C, Pareja-Serrano E, Amato G, Kühl K, Damatirca C, Cogato A, Mzid N, Eeswaran R, Rebelo M, Sperandio G, Bosino A, Bufalini M, Tunçay T, Ding J, Fiorentini M, Tiscornia G, Conradt S, Botta M and Acutis M 2021. New pedotransfer approaches to predict soil bulk density using WoSIS soil data and environmentalcovariates in Mediterranean agroecosystems. *Science of The Total Environment*, 146609.

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048969721016776

- Sevastas S, Gasparatos D, Botsis D, Siarkos I, Diamantaras KI and Bilas G 2018. Predicting bulk density using pedotransfer functions for soils in the Upper Anthemountas basin, Greece. *Geoderma Regional* 14, e00169. <u>http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2352009417302584</u>
- Shamrikova EV, Kondratenok BM, Tumanova EA, Vanchikova EV, Lapteva EM, Zonova TV, Lu-Lyan-Min EI, Davydova AP, Libohova Z and Suvannang N 2022. Transferability between soil organic matter measurement methods for database harmonization. *Geoderma* 412 <u>https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-</u>

85123867479&doi=10.1016%2fj.geoderma.2021.115547&partnerID=40&md5=541294dcdee76dd33de59cafa717b145 Soil Survey Staff 2022. Soil Survey Laboratory Methods Manual (Version 6.0., Part1: Curren methods), Soil Survey

Investigations Report No. 42, v6. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service, Lincoln (Nebraska), 1001 p. https://nrcs.app.box.com/s/fgrv9vdiiwrymtemw3ns8ocsdz7n5q3q/file/998358972771

Stolbovoi V 2001. Soils of Russia: Correlated with the Revised Legend of the FAO Soil Map of the World and World Reference Base for Soil Resources. Report RR-00-13, International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis, Laxenburg, 191 p

- Styc Q, Saby N and Bispo A 2021. Comparison of LUCAS program and national soil information monitoring system (SIMS) datasets, EJP Soil (task 6.3). <u>https://nicolassaby.pages.mia.inra.fr/ejpsoilwp6lucas/</u>
- Takahashi T, Nakano K, Nira R, Kumagai E, Nishida M and Namikawa M 2020. Conversion of soil particle size distribution and texture classification from ISSS system to FAO/USDA system in Japanese paddy soils. *Soil Science and Plant Nutrition* 66, 407-414. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00380768.2020.1763143</u>
- Tirez K, Vanhoof C, Hofman S, Deproost P, Swerts M and Salomez J 2014. Estimating the Contribution of Sampling, Sample Pretreatment, and Analysis in the Total Uncertainty Budget of Agricultural Soil pH and Organic Carbon Monitoring. *Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis* 45, 984-1002. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00103624.2013.867056</u>
- Tóth B, Weynants M, Nemes A, Makó A, Bilas G and Tóth G 2014. New generation of hydraulic pedotransfer functions for Europe. European Journal of Soil Science, n/a-n/a. http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/ejss.12192
- USDA-NCSS 2018. *National Cooperative Soil Survey (NCSS) Soil Characterization Database*, United States Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service, Lincoln. <u>https://ncsslabdatamart.sc.egov.usda.gov/</u>

- Van Egmond F and Fantappiè M 2021. Report on harmonized procedures for creation of databases and maps. Towards climate-smart sustainable management of agricultural soils (EU H2020-SFS-2018-2020 / H2020-SFS-2019) EJP Soil, 391 p
- Van Egmond FF, M, Andrenelli MC, Arrouays D, Aust G, Bakacsi Z, Batjes NH, Bispo A, Borůvka L, Brus D, Bulens JD, Calzolari C, Natale FD, Bene D, Donovan L and others 2021. *Towards climate-smart sustainable management of agricultural soils. Deliverable 6.1 Report on harmonized procedures for creation of databases and maps*, EJP Soil (European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under grant agreement N° 862695), 364 p
- van Leeuwen C, Mulder VL, Batjes NH and Heuvelink GBM 2022. Contribution of measurement error in calibration and validation data to the prediction accuracy of pedotransfer functions *EGU General Assembly 2022, Vienna, Austria, 23–27 May 2022, EGU22-11155, 2022*
- van Leeuwen C, Mulder VL, Batjes NH and Heuvelink GBM 2022. Statistical modelling of measurement error in wet chemistry soil data. *European Journal of Soil Science* 73 <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ejss.13137</u>
- Van Looy K, Bouma J, Herbst M, Koestel J, Minasny B, Mishra U, Montzka C, Nemes A, Pachepsky Y, Padarian J, Schaap M, Tóth B, Verhoef A, Vanderborght J, van der Ploeg M, Weihermüller L, Zacharias S, Zhang Y and Vereecken HCRG 2017. Pedotransfer functions in Earth system science: challenges and perspectives. *Reviews of Geophysics* 55, 1199-1256. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/2017RG000581</u>
- van Reeuwijk LP 2002. *Procedures for soil analysis (6th ed.)*. Technical Paper 9, ISRIC, Wageningen, 81 p. <u>https://www.isric.org/sites/default/files/ISRIC_TechPap09.pdf</u>
- van Reeuwijk LP and Houba VJG 1998. External quality control of data. In: Van Reeuwijk LP (editor), *Guidelines for quality management in soil and plant laboratories*. ISRIC and FAO, Rome, pp 121-127. http://www.fao.org/docrep/W7295E/W7295E0.htm
- Viscarra Rossel RA and Bouma J 2016. Soil sensing: A new paradigm for agriculture. *Agricultural Systems* 148, 71-74. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0308521X16303110
- Viscarra Rossel RA, Behrens T, Ben-Dor E, Chabrillat S, Demattê JAM, Ge Y, Gomez C, Guerrero C, Peng Y, Ramirez-Lopez L, Shi Z, Stenberg B, Webster R, Winowiecki L and Shen Z 2022. Diffuse reflectance spectroscopy for estimating soil properties: a technology for the 21st century. *European Journal of Soil Science* n/a, e13271. <u>https://bsssjournals.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/ejss.13271</u>
- Vogel AW 1994. Comparability of soil analytical data: determinations of cation exchange capacity, organic carbon, soil reaction, bulk density, and volume percentage of water at selected pF values by different methods. Work. Pap. 94/07, ISRIC, Wageningen, 37 p. http://www.isric.org/sites/default/files/isric_report_1994_07.pdf
- Wagner G, Mohr ME, Sprengart J, Desaules A, Muntau H, Theocharopoulos S and Quevauviller P 2001. Objectives, concept and design of the CEEM soil project. *Science of The Total Environment* 264, 3-15. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048969700006082
- Wellbrock N, Lehtonen A, Mäkipää R, Salmivaara A and Nieminen TM 2021. D3.1 List of confirmed data & data providers, 3 p. https://holisoils.eu/deliverables/
- WEPAL 2022. WEPAL. Wageningen Evaluating Programmes for Analytical Laboratories. <u>https://www.wepal.nl/en/wepal.htm</u> Yudina AV, Fomin DS, Kotelnikova AD and Milanovskii EY 2018. From the Notion of Elementary Soil Particle to the Particle-
- Size and Microaggregate-Size Distribution Analyses: A Review. *Eurasian Soil Science* 51, 1326-1347. <u>https://doi.org/10.1134/S1064229318110091</u>

